THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

J.C. Nicholson, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No 2014-000175
Circuit Case No. 2012-CP-10-1332

Betty Fisher, as Real Representative
for Alice Shaw-Baker.....Appellant

v

Bessie Huckabee, Kay Passailague Slade,
Sandra Byrd, and Peter Kouten, and Does 1 through 100, Defendants

Of whom Bessie Huckabee, Kay Passailague Slade, Sandra Byrd,
and Peter KoutenRespondents

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JOHN HUGHES COOPER, ESQUIRE
1476 Ben Sawyer Blvd. Ste 7
Mount Pleasant, SC 29464
shiplaw@jhcooper.com
843-883-9099, fax 843-883-9335

and

LISA FISHER, ESQUIRE
Pro Hac Vice

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1 WHETHER SOUTH CAROLINA'S PUBLIC POLICY REGARDING
PROTECTION OF THE ELDERLY ESTABLISHES THIRD PARTY
STANDING FOR APPELLANT

2. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT APPELLANT
LACKED STANDING TO PURSUE DECEDENT'S SURVIVAL ACTIONS,
WHEN CASE LAW AND ESTABLISHED EQUITABLE PRINCIPLES
RELATING TO TRUST LAW AUTHORIZES A BENEFICIARY TO
COMMENCE AN ACTION AS "TEMPORARY REPRESENTATIVE" FOR
THE BENEFIT OF THE ESTATE

- 3 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT APPELLANT
LACKED STANDING TO PURSUE DECEDENT'S SURVIVAL ACTIONS,
DESPITE STATUTORY PROVISION IN SOUTH CAROLINA CODE ANN §
15-5-90(1976) ALLOWING A "REAL REPRESENTATIVE" TO PURSUE A
DECEDENT'S SURVIVAL ACTION.

- 4 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT IMPROPERLY CONSIDERED THE
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO RESPONDENT PETER
KOUTEN, WHEN HE DID NOT IDENTIFY HIMSELF AS A PARTY IN THE

PLEADINGS AND DID NOT ADDRESS ANY ARGUMENTS INDIVIDUALLY.

5. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO RESPONDENTS BESSIE HUCKABEE, KAY PASSAILAGUE SLADE, AND SANDRA BYRD, WHEN GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED AS DEMONSTRATED BY APPELLANT'S EXPERT WITNESS DECLARATIONS AND LAY WITNESS DECLARATIONS.

6. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING PETER KOUTEN TO ACT AS COUNSEL FOR BESSIE HUCKABEE, KAY PASSAILAGUE, AND SANDRA BYRD, WHEN HE WAS PREVIOUSLY COURT APPOINTED ATTORNEY/GUARDIAN AD LITEM FOR THE DECEDENT

- 7 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN CONSIDERING COUNSEL PETER KOUTEN'S ARGUMENT AS FACTUAL CONTENTIONS, WITHOUT RULING ON APPELLANT'S OBJECTIONS.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

"The old proverb that a man's home is his castle embodies a rich heritage of truth. All things in it or about it are as fine gold to them that dwell there. It is their palace to their friends, their refuge from toil and unkind foes. There they commune with the thoughts of the wise and virtuous, thrill under the spell of music, enjoy laughter and love. He who maliciously aims and attempts to destroy the peace and recreative value of a home robs its inmates of immeasurable riches and does an inestimable damage."¹

Alice Shaw-Baker died on February 25, 2009

Thereafter, her home, her life's works, and those mementoes that she held dear became subject of litigation in both a Will Contest and this Survival action in the circuit court. In this action, Appellant Betty Fisher, Alice Shaw Baker's niece, sued Respondents Bessie Huckabee, Kay Passailague Slade, Sandra Byrd, and Attorney Peter Kouten (Hereinafter "Respondents") for alleged wrongdoing to Ms. Shaw Barker during her life

Appellant brought this underlying action after discovering the "inestimable damage" that her aunt, Alice Shaw-Baker, suffered during the last years of her life as alleged in the Verified Complaint against Respondents. Said complaint included causes of actions for 1) Violation of Omnibus Adult Protection Act pursuant to S.C. Ann. Code § 43-35-5 et seq. ; 2) Breach of Fiduciary Duty, 3) Legal Malpractice, and for 4) Attorney

¹ See *Griffin v Northridge*, 67 Cal App 2d 69 (1944). While there is no comparable legal authority under South Carolina law, the principles set forth in the statutory scheme for Vulnerable Adults under the Omnibus Adult Protection Act, South Carolina Ann. Code § 43-35-5 et seq. demonstrates a commitment toward the Elderly in both the judicial and legislative setting. As argued herein, Appellant contends that it supports a private cause of action for recovery of damages to Alice Shaw-Baker (See also, U.S. Const. Amends. IV and XIV, § 1 and S.C. Const. Art. I, § 3.)

Fees and Costs. ("Complaint") (R 17) The Complaint was filed on February 24, 2012- one day before the action would be barred by the Statute of Limitations.²

To preserve these causes of action, Appellant Betty Fisher ("Appellant") brought this survival action for Alice Shaw-Baker under South Carolina Ann Code § 15-5-90 as "real representative" and based on her standing as an "heir at law."³ In addition to statutory authority, there is well established precedent concerning Appellant's standing to pursue the action as a "temporary representative" under equitable principles.

Other issues which impacted the briefing of this matter in the circuit court included analysis of the Public Policy basis for permitting third parties to assert claims for Vulnerable Adults and/or Decedents; Respondent Peter Kouten's waiver of the standing issue due to his failure to identify himself in these proceedings, the failure of the court to recognize Expert Opinion and Lay Evidence existed as to the alleged wrongdoing by Respondents to Alice Shaw Baker, allowing Respondent Peter Kouten to Act as Counsel for the other Respondents when he had a non-waiveable adverse interest due to his prior appointment as Court Appointed Counsel and Guardian ad litem for the decedent Alice

² R 348,1 20-25

³ See *Duke, et al v Postal Telegraph Cable Co* , 71 S C 95, 50 S E. 675, 676 (1905).

Appellant is also petitioner in a Will Contest action entitled *In the Matter of Alice Shaw Baker Estate, Betty Fisher et al v Bessie Huckabee et al* , case no 2009-CP-10-3010 (R 19) This separate action seeks to remove the personal representative, Respondent Bessie Huckabee, and additional claims against Respondents Kay Passailague Slade and Sandra Byrd to recover Alice Shaw Baker's estate for the benefit of animal charities. This "Probate Action" continues to be prosecuted, however there have been several motions and previous Appellate review Final determination of the issues in the probate action have not been decided

Shaw Baker; and consideration of argument as evidence during the circuit court without ruling on Appellant's objections.

On January 22, 2014, Appellant timely filed her *Notice of Appeal* seeking reversal of all *Orders Granting Summary Judgment*, including the final Order affirming prior order granting summary judgment in favor of defendant dated December 18, 2013 (R. 277)

If the circuit court's decision stands, the "immeasurable riches" of Alice Shaw Baker, including her hard work and charitable works in South Carolina, will be lost, as the Statute of Limitations has run. Therefore, the Estate of Alice Shaw Baker will not be able to recover for the harm that Alice Shaw Baker suffered during her lifetime. As the law is set forth herein, this result is neither correct nor justified by the facts and law of this case

III. STATEMENT OF FACTS

a. Background Facts

Alice Shaw Baker had long been an important member of South Carolina's community. She was a member in good standing of her church. She volunteered her time rescuing animals. She had devoted her life to caring for animals and supporting animal charities. (R. 22)

She was born August 14, 1929 in San Francisco, California. Ms. Shaw-Baker was enlisted in the United States Navy for four years and, during her enlistment, stationed in Charleston, South Carolina

Thereafter, Appellant alleges that Ms Shaw-Baker worked for Charleston Memorial Hospital for approximately twenty years until her retirement Appellant

contends that Respondents Huckabee, Slade, and Byrd worked for Ms Shaw Baker at Charleston Memorial Hospital, and used their working relationship with Ms Shaw Baker to gain information about her private life, her finances, and her estate plan. Furthermore, Respondents used this information to gain control over Ms Shaw Baker's mind and her will, and to interfere with the known estate plan that Ms Shaw Baker had established for the benefit and protection of animals

As alleged in the Verified Complaint, Respondents Huckabee, Slade, and Byrd told Ms Shaw Baker that they would help her when she was older, make sure she could stay home, and make sure that her health, personal and financial decisions were properly addressed. Also, Appellant alleged that Respondents falsely claimed that Slade owned an animal rescue in their effort to deceive Ms Shaw Baker

However, when that time came, they refused to help her. She was allowed to deteriorate and live in substandard conditions. They refused to call family and interfered with her medical treatment all leading to her early demise. Appellant contends that these actions constituted abandonment, neglect and led to unnecessary and unhealthy isolation.

It also promoted the involvement of the State and the filing of a conservatorship proceeding against Ms Shaw Baker (*Conservatorship of Alice Shaw Baker*, Case no 2008-GC-10-088 ("Conservatorship case")) (R 19)

During these proceedings, the probate court appointed Respondent Attorney Peter Kouten as *Court Appointed Counsel*, Guardian Ad litem, and visitor to Alice Shaw Baker. However, Ms. Shaw Baker agreed to the appointment of her great niece as conservator/guardian in October 2008 (R 19)

Thereafter, Appellant alleges that she discovered that Respondent Kouten dually represented the other Respondents while Alice Shaw Baker was still alive and at her home, **and not merely after her death**. These actions are alleged to be in violation of Rules of Professional Conduct and were actions that were adverse to the wishes of Ms. Shaw Baker.

b. Procedural History

On or about February 24, 2012, Appellant filed a Complaint as real representative on behalf of Alice Shaw Baker (R. 17)

Respondents⁴ filed a *Motion for Summary Judgment and Dismissal of Action* on or about July 16, 2012. The grounds were: 1) that the claims were the same as under the Probate Action; 2) that Appellant failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted; and 3) that Appellant had not "obtain[ed] a favorable determination" that she has standing (R. 43). Appellant contends that Respondents modified these grounds to include "lack of jurisdiction, authority and standing to sue on behalf of the decedent."

(R. 156) Thereafter, the court granted summary judgment on behalf of Respondents

Respondent Kouten filed said motion as attorney for Respondents Bessie Huckabee, Kay Passailague Slade, and Sandra Byrd. The *Motion for Summary Judgment* did not address the Legal Malpractice cause of action against Respondent Kouten, nor did it indicate that he was filing the motion on his own behalf (R. 43)

⁴ These parties filed the motion as Respondents, instead of Defendants. The motion failed to reference *any* of the Respondents names in the motion, although Respondents Huckabee, Slade, and Byrd signed verifications. Respondent Kouten signed as *Attorney for Respondents* (See R. 46). As set forth herein, Appellant continues to contest Respondent Peter Kouten's status as a party in the motion (See below, § IV (d))

In response, Appellant filed a *Motion to Disqualify and Remove Opposing Counsel Peter Kouten due to Non-Waiveable Conflict of Interest* on August 1, 2012. (R 50) Said motion was based on Respondent Kouten's prior representation of the decedent Alice Shaw Baker in the Probate Court, Conservatorship matter ⁵

Appellant also filed a *Return, Objection and Opposition by Plaintiff Betty Fisher, as Real Representative for Alice Shaw-Baker to Motion for Summary Judgment, and Dismissal of Action, Memorandum of Law , Affidavits in Support* concurrently on November 26, 2012. ("Return") (R 73) These documents included an Affidavit of Lisa Fisher Esquire with attached exhibits verifying the factual statements in the Return (R. 122), Affidavit of Expert David Kessler and attached his Resume/CV Said testimony outlined wrongdoing by Respondents (R. 88); Affidavit of Candace Rickborn also verified factual allegations supporting Appellant's claims (R. 102); and addressing the allegations of Legal Malpractice, Attorney Expert Mark W Hardee executed an affidavit with his attached CV filed in support of Appellant's Return. (R 111)

On or about November 28, 2012, Respondents filed a *Memorandum Supporting Summary Judgment and Dismissal and Opposing Disqualification and Removal of counsel* (R 135)⁶

Appellant filed her *Supplemental Memorandum in Opposition to the Motion for Summary Judgment and Dismissal of Action* on December 7, 2012 (R. 145)

⁵ Appellant brought this matter to this Court's attention in the prior appeal related to the underlying Will Contest matter, Case no 2009-CP-10-3010.

⁶ Appellant filed objections to the procedurally deficient *Notice of Appearance of Counsel W. Westbrook Wills* He filed no pleadings and did not argue at any of the hearings (R. 216)

A *Supplemental Memorandum Supporting Motion for Summary Judgment and Dismissal of Action* was filed by Respondent Kouten on December 20, 2012. (R. 156)

To preserve Appellant's rights, obtain the rationale of the Circuit Court, and avoid waiver, Appellant filed a *Motion to Alter, Amend, Reconsider and Vacate Order of May 8, 2013* (R. 161, see R. 370-371) In support of that Motion, Counsel John Hughes Cooper filed Appellant's expert and lay affidavits and the same Exhibits supporting the original *Return*⁷ The court amended the original order of May 8, 2013 on September 3, 2013 to correct a clerical error ending the probate action. (R. 7)

On October 18, 2013, Appellant filed a *Supplemental Brief re. Motion by [Appellant] Betty Fisher to Alter, Amend, Reconsider and Vacate Order of May 8, 2013, Memorandum, Affidavit of John Hughes Cooper*. (R. 226)

Respondent Kouten filed his *Supplemental Memorandum Denying [Appellant's] Motion reconsidering Summary Judgment* filed on October 22, 2013 (R. 258)

Another briefing was filed by Appellant regarding the Late Filed Memorandum of Respondent Kouten and Substitution of Counsel on October 29, 2013 (R. 249)

On December 18, 2013, the Circuit Court issued its Form 4 Judgment in a Civil Case and Order Affirming Prior Order Granting Summary Judgment in favor of Defendant dated December 18, 2013 (R. 9)

The timely filed Notice of Appeal was filed and served on January 22, 2014 (R. 277)

⁷ For judicial economy, as part of the record, Appellant files only one set of the original exhibits.

c. Final Ruling and Order

"Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider filed on May 28, 2013 came before the Court on October 8, 2013 Plaintiff was represented by Lisa Fisher and John Hughes Cooper. Defendant was represented by Peter A. Kouten. Plaintiff asked the Court to reconsider its order of May 8, 2013, in which it granted summary judgment in favor of Defendants Upon further review of the matter, Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider is DENIED and the Court's order of May 8, 2013, is REINSTATED and Defendant's motion for summary judgment in GRANTED in favor of the Defendants.

FINDINGS OF FACT

1. Alice Shaw Baker ("decendent") died on February 25, 2013.
2. An estate was opened in the Charleston County Probate Court within thirty days of her date of death
3. Plaintiffs delivered the Last Will and Testament to the Charleston County Probate Court and the personal representative was nominated pursuant to the Last Will and Testament and appointed ⁸
4. Plaintiffs filed a will contest of the Last Will and Testament and sought removal of the Personal Representative in a complaint filed on April 27, 2009
5. Plaintiff filed the current action on February 24, 2012, under the Charleston County Circuit Court file number 2012-CP-10-1332.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

"Summary judgment is only appropriate when there is no genuine issue of material fact, and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law The evidence and inferences drawn therefrom should be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party " *Southern Contracting, Inc v H C Brown Construction Co, Inc* , 317 S C 95, 450 S E. 2d 601 (Ct App 1994)

[¶]The Court's prior order granted summary judgement on the basis that Plaintiff lacked standing to sue on behalf of the decedent in the current action. Plaintiff argues that as a beneficiary of the decedent's estate, she is a "real representative" pursuant to South Carolina Code Annotated Section 15-5-90, which states:

⁸ Appellant contests the facts as set forth in the Order She further contends that the informal appointment of Respondent Huckabee was based on a "revoked" Will and without proper notice in violation of Due Process and Equal Protection. Further, the Will contest seeks removal of Respondent Huckabee Moreover, Appellant objected at the hearing to the rendition of "facts", which was merely argument by counsel which will not support this order (See *Gilmore v Ivy*, 290 S C. 53, 348 S E 2d 180 (1986))

[¶] Causes of action for and in respect to any and all injuries and trespasses to and upon real estate and any and all injuries to the person or to personal property shall survive both to and against the personal or real representative, as the case may be, of a deceased person and the legal representative of an insolvent person or a defunct or insolvent corporation, any law or rule to the contrary notwithstanding

[¶] Furthermore, the Plaintiff argues that she is deemed a "real representative" based on her interpretation of a 1905 South Carolina Supreme Court case which states "causes of action for and in respect to any and all injuries and trespasses, to and upon real estate, shall survive both to and against the personal or real representative (as the case may be) of deceased persons, ' etc The heirs at law are the real representatives " *Duke, et al. v Postal Telegraph Cable Co* , 71 S C 95, 50 S E 675, 676 (1905)