THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court Of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court Of Common Pleas

Honorable Thomas L. Hughston, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

SEP 15 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No 2014-000175
Case No 2012-CP-10-1332

Betty Fisher, as Real Representative for Alice Shaw-Baker, Appellant, . . .

v

Bessie Huckabee, Kay Passailague Slade, Sandra Byrd and Peter Kouten and Does 1 through
100, Defendants,

Of whom Bessie Huckabee, Kay Passailague Slade, Sandra Byrd and Peter Kouten are the
Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
PETER KOUTEN

Peter A. Kouten, Esquire
PO Box 340
Johns Island, SC 29455
843-789-9614

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1 WHETHER SOUTH CAROLINA'S PUBLIC POLICY REGARDING PROTECTION OF THE ELDERLY ESTABLISHES THIRD PARTY STANDING FOR APPELLANT
- 2 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT APPELLANT LACKED STANDING TO PURSUE DECEDENT'S SURVIVAL ACTIONS
- 3 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT'S CONSIDERATION OF MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO RESPONDENT PETER KOUTEN WHEN HE DID NOT IDENTIFY HIMSELF AS A PARTY IN THE PLEADING AND DID NOT ADDRESS ANY ARGUMENTS INDIVIDUALLY
- 4 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO RESPONDENTS BESSIE HUCKABEE, KAY PASSAILAGUE SLADE, AND SANDRA BYRD REGARDING GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT
- 5 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING PETER KOUTEN TO ACT AS COUNSEL FOR BESSIE HUCKABEE, KAY PASSAILAGUE SLADE, AND SANDRA BYRD WHEN HE WAS PREVIOUSLY COURT-APPOINTED ATTORNEY/GUARDIAN AD LITEM FOR THE DECEDENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The initial action to which all ancillary matters attach is an action in the Probate Court of Charleston County In Re the Estate of Alice Shaw-Baker (hereinafter Alice), who died testate on February 25, 2009. Prior to her death, there were hearings to appoint guardian and conservator for Alice. Lisa Fisher, Esquire is a relative to Alice and sought appointment and was appointed guardian and conservator for Alice. The Appellant, Betty Fisher, is the mother of Lisa Fisher, both live in California. Alice was present at the final appointment hearing wherein the probate court sought to determine whether Alice had a last will. The prior temporary conservator indicated that she had a last will. The probate court ordered that it be delivered to the probate court and said last will was delivered and a certified copy is in the commitment division file. Upon Alice's death, Respondent Bessie Huckabee was appointed personal representative after Alice's last will, which nominated Bessie Huckabee, was presented to the probate court by John Hughes Cooper, Esquire, local counsel for Betty and Lisa Fisher and sponsor for Lisa Fisher's pro hac vice appointment for this and other filings¹. Appellant sought by petition to void appointment of the personal representative, contest the will, appoint an intestate heir as personal representative, and contest the beneficiary designations of additional non-probate assets. Appellant removed these actions to Charleston County Court of Common Pleas by statutory right.

¹ There are currently two appeals in the South Carolina Court of Appeals regarding this estate matter. The second appeal in this Court seeks appeal of the lower court's order denying motion to disqualify counsel, appeal of the lower court's order denying reconsideration, and appeal of a consent order wherein counsel was substituted. Additionally, there are three appeals pending in the lower court brought by the appellant and/or her daughter. The petition contesting last will has not been heard. The petition to remove personal representative has not been heard. They were filed in 2009.

The Appellant brought the action currently on appeal by way of verified complaint having four causes of action

- 1 Appellant sought to be recognized as a “real representative” of Alice in order to bring a survival action on behalf of Alice under the South Carolina Omnibus Adult Protection Act,
- 2 Breach of Fiduciary Duty against all Respondents,
- 3 Legal Malpractice against Respondent Kouten,
- 4 Attorney Costs and Fees

The Appellant in her Notice of Appeal appeals

- a Judgment dated May 7, 2013 and filed May 8, 2013
- b Judgment dated and filed September 3, 2013
- c Judgment dated December 12, 2013 and filed December 8, 2013
- d Order dated December 12, 2013 and filed December 18, 2013

The May 8, 2013 order indicated that “Plaintiff’s Motion for Summary Judgment is Granted” The aforementioned motion for summary judgment was filed by Respondents There was a scrivener’s error in the order as to the party bringing the motion More importantly, the order of May 8, 2013 indicated that the related case of 2009-CP-10-3010 “also ended ”

The September 3, 2013 order amended the scrivener’s error and indicated that “Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment is Granted” It indicated receipt of Plaintiff’s Motion to Amend and indicated a hearing date of said motion It did not make reference to the ending of case 2009-CP-10-3010

The Judgment dated December 12, 2013 and filed December 8, 2013 references the “attached order” for formal Order Affirming Prior Order Granting Summary Judgment in Favor of Defendants dated December 12, 2013 and filed December 18, 2013

The lower court ruled that any action against the person or personal property of Alice must be brought by the personal representative Although the Omnibus Adult

Protection Act allows for third party reporting, it also requires a report to be filed within two days of the allegations of abuse. Typically, the alleged victim is alive when a report is filed. The Appellant filed no report. Respondent supports the fact that Alice Shaw-Baker died on February 25, 2009 and that Bessie Huckabee was appointed the personal representative based on nomination of Alice in her Last Will and Testament.

Plaintiffs filed a will contest of the Last Will and Testament and sought removal of the Personal Representative in a complaint filed in April 27, 2009 and have yet to seek determination in those matters. Bessie Huckabee is the current and only serving personal representative for the estate of Alice Shaw Baker.

ARGUMENTS

1 WHETHER SOUTH CAROLINA'S PUBLIC POLICY REGARDING PROTECTION OF THE ELDERLY ESTABLISHES THIRD PARTY STANDING FOR APPELLANT

Under the South Carolina Omnibus Adult Protection Act enacted in 1993, any third party who has reason to believe that abuse, neglect, or exploitation is occurring regarding a vulnerable adult may report the incident South Carolina Code Section 43-35-25(B). The sole purpose of the Act is to identify vulnerable adults who are subject to abuse and, if found, immediately act to remove said vulnerable adult from the abusive situation. The requirement is immediate, while the alleged vulnerable adult is allegedly being abused, not *several years after her death*. (emphasis added) Appellant cites *Williams-Garrett v. Murphy*, wherein the plaintiff seeks redress under the act for actions by a defendant who is alleged to have conspired to take valuable coins from the alleged vulnerable adult 106 F. Supp 2d 834 (2000). The Appellant fails to indicate that the plaintiff in *Williams-Garrett* is Ms. Williams-Garrett herself, who alleges that she was vulnerable at the time of the coin transactions. She made a contemporaneous claim to report a specific event. Here, the Appellant has made no contemporaneous report.

Under the Act, the lower circuit court lacks jurisdiction as the family court is the proper trier of fact. The Act explicitly and procedurally requires a report to be filed within two days of the allegations of abuse, neglect, or exploitation and any actions, petitions and hearings to follow the report must proceed in the family court. The Plaintiffs in this action have filed no reports and have offered no specific instances of abuse, neglect, or exploitation of a vulnerable adult.

The Appellant argues that third party standing has been found proper in *Amisub of South Carolina, Inc v. Passmore*. In *Passmore*, Ms Passmore was alive, the action was brought by the hospital to recover fees for services, and it was not brought under the South Carolina Omnibus Adult Protection Act 316 S C 112 (1994). Here, the Appellant's action is brought solely under the Omnibus Adult Protection Act. Under the Act, with proper authentication of facts and a contemporaneous report of abuse, the Appellant would have every privilege under the laws of South Carolina to report any incident of alleged elder abuse. Appellant never provided any contemporaneous report of abuse. Further, the complaint at bar was filed three years after Alice died. The personal representative has been appointed for over five years at this point. Appellant has had five years to be heard regarding validity of last will and has sat on her right to hearing while attempting every other avenue. The lower court has determined that Appellant has sat on her right to be heard on the issue of appointment of personal representative. The lower court has determined that the South Carolina Probate Code regarding personal representatives is in place to ensure that a single authority is charged with the duties and responsibilities of a decedent's estate.

The purpose of a real party in interest provision is to assure that a defendant is required only to defend an action brought by a proper party and that such an action need be defended only once. 59 AmJur2d *Parties* § 35 (1987). The right of a plaintiff to maintain a suit, while frequently treated as going to the question of jurisdiction, goes, in reality, to the right of the plaintiff to relief rather than to the jurisdiction of the court to afford it. 21 C J S *Courts* § 16 (1990). (See also *Bardoon Properties v. Eidolon Corporation, et al*, 326 S C 166 (1997).) Here, there is no third party standing for actions

in estates as the sole authority for said actions lies with the personal representative as codified under South Carolina Probate Code Sections 62-3-711 and 715 and therefore, Defendant's Grant of Summary Judgment should be upheld

2 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT APPELLANT LACKED STANDING TO PURSUE DECEDENT'S SURVIVAL ACTIONS

The lower court did not err in its determination that Appellant lacks standing in any actions on behalf of Alice including survival actions. The personal representation is authorized to prosecute any causes of actions, arising, asserted, or brought under or by virtue of any statute or act of this State. South Carolina Code Ann. Section 62-3-715 Said actions survive to the personal representative on behalf of the decedent. A personal representative has the same standing to sue as her decedent had immediately prior to death. South Carolina Code Ann. Section 62-3-703(c) Here, the Appellant is not the court-appointed personal representative. Appellant does not have standing as a real representative and authority over estate actions brought on behalf of the decedent must be brought by the personal representative. Therefore, the lower court did not err in determining that Appellant lacks standing and therefore, Defendant's Grant of Summary Judgment should be upheld.

3 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT'S CONSIDERATION OF MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO RESPONDENT PETER KOUTEN WHEN HE DID NOT IDENTIFY HIMSELF AS A PARTY IN THE PLEADING AND DID NOT ADDRESS ANY ARGUMENTS INDIVIDUALLY

Rule 201, SCACR, states that an "appeal may be taken, as provided by law, from any final judgment, appealable order or decision." An issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, rather to be preserved for appellate review the issue must have been

raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge *S. C. Dep't of Trans v. First Carolina Corp of S. C.*, 641 S E 2d 903, 372 S C 295 (2007) Where the record does not reflect that a point has been raised before the trial court, that point cannot be considered on appeal *Murphy v Hagan*, 275 S C 334, 271 S E (2d) 311 (1980) Appellant did not raise the issues of named plaintiff and/or respondent or whether individual issues had been addressed during the hearing nor did she raise them during the reconsideration hearing These issues should not be considered on appeal and therefore, Defendant's Grant of Summary Judgment should be upheld

The lower court did not err in considering Motion for Summary Judgment based on Respondent's identification as a party and addressing plaintiffs arguments individually Et al is defined as "and other persons" and is an appropriate form when drafting a pleading which lists several parties Black's Law Dictionary (7th Ed., 1999) Here, Respondent listed the first party of plaintiff and first party of respondent followed by et al Additionally, Respondent has no requirement to address any and all arguments of a plaintiff These issues were,not brought up at hearing in the lower court and therefore, Defendant's Grant of Summary Judgment should be upheld

4 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AS TO RESPONDENTS BESSIE HUCKABEE, KAY PASSAILAGUE SLADE, AND SANDRA BYRD REGARDING GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT

The lower court did not err by granting summary judgment regarding genuine issues of material fact The purpose of summary judgment is to expedite disposition of cases which do not require the services of a fact finder *Bankers Trust of South Carolina v Benson*, 267 S C 152, 155, 226 S E 2d 703, 704 (1976) Summary judgment is not "a disfavored procedural shortcut," but an important mechanism for weeding out "claims

and defenses [that] have no factual basis " *Celotex Corp v Catrett*, 477 U S 317 (1986)

Here, the lower court determined that the Appellant lacked standing to bring the action and that any actions brought on behalf of a decedent must be brought by the court-appointed personal representative. In review of this threshold genuine issue of material fact, the lower court granted summary judgment, and therefore, Defendant's Grant of Summary Judgment should be upheld.

5 WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING PETER KOUTEN TO ACT AS COUNSEL FOR BESSIE HUCKABEE, KAY PASSAILAGUE SLADE, AND SANDRA BYRD WHEN HE WAS PREVIOUSLY COURT-APPOINTED ATTORNEY/GUARDIAN AD LITEM FOR THE DECEDENT

The lower court did not err on the issue of Respondents counsel as the lower court made determination that Appellant lacks standing in any actions on behalf of Alice. The lower court granted summary judgment based on Appellant's lack of standing, and therefore, Defendant's Grant of Summary Judgment should be upheld.

Expense and possible delay inherent in any disqualification of counsel, with additional reasons, qualify as "substantial hardship" precluding disqualification where attorney's disqualification creates the loss of extensive knowledge of a case based upon a long-term relationship between the clients and counsel and substantial discovery conducted in the actual litigation. S C Appellate Court Rule 407, Rules of Prof Conduct, Rule 3 7

The Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution has been held to protect absolutely the right of a defendant to retain counsel of his choice and to be represented in the fullest measure by the person of his choice. Where the right to be assisted by counsel